University of Rhode Island DigitalCommons@URI

**Open Access Master's Theses** 

2014

## MEASURING AND PREDICTING THE FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH PERSISTENCE TO ANTIDEPRESSANT THERAPY IN PATIENTS WITH DIABETES

Harini Chinthapatla University of Rhode Island, HariniChinthapatla@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/theses Terms of Use All rights reserved under copyright.

#### **Recommended Citation**

Chinthapatla, Harini, "MEASURING AND PREDICTING THE FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH PERSISTENCE TO ANTIDEPRESSANT THERAPY IN PATIENTS WITH DIABETES" (2014). *Open Access Master's Theses.* Paper 351. https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/theses/351

This Thesis is brought to you by the University of Rhode Island. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@URI. For more information, please contact digitalcommons-group@uri.edu. For permission to reuse copyrighted content, contact the author directly.

# MEASURING AND PREDICTING THE FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH PERSISTENCE TO ANTIDEPRESSANT THERAPY IN PATIENTS WITH DIABETES

BY

HARINI CHINTHAPATLA

## A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE

## REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

## PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES

UNIVERSITY OF RHODE ISLAND

2014

## MASTER OF SCIENCE DEGREE THESIS

OF

#### HARINI CHINTHAPATLA

## APPROVED:

Thesis Committee:

Major Professor E. Paul Larrat

Stephen Kogut

Sara Rosenbaum

Rita Marcoux

Nasser Zawia

DEAN OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

UNIVERSITY OF RHODE ISLAND 2014

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to measure the rate of persistence to antidepressants and to identify the factors influencing persistence to these medications in patients with diabetes.

**Methods:** We conducted a retrospective study among patients with diabetes enrolled in a commercial health plan between 2009 – 2012. The study population includes patients who were at least 18 years of age and diagnosed with major depression during this period. The patients were eligible for acute phase treatment and continuation phase treatment if they were enrolled at least 90 days and 180 days after the Index antidepressant Prescription Start Date (IPSD) respectively. The patients were eligible for the study if (1) there was no history of diagnosis of major depression for at least 120 days prior to the first episode of major depression (Index Episode Start Date-IESD) and (2) there was no history of an antidepressant dispensing for at least 90 days prior to the IPSD.

**Results:** The mean age of the patients in both the phases was approximately 60 years. A majority were prescribed SSRI (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors) antidepressants in acute (71.5%) and continuation (74.9%) treatment phases, 81.8% of the patients in acute phase and 72.8% in continuation phase had monotherapy, 210 patients in acute phase and 112 patients in continuation phase had no follow up visits. Only 60.1% and 43.5% of patients were found to be persistent to acute and continuation treatment phases respectively.

Acute Phase Treatment: The odds of non-persistence were higher for patients in age group 18-40 compared to patients aged 40 above (OR 0.46 P=0.0036). Across the

class of antidepressants patients utilizing trazadone or mirtazapine (OR=2.35 P=0.02) were more likely to non-persist. Patients who had 1 to 3 (OR=0.19 P<0.0001) or more than 3 (OR= 0.63 P<0.0001)follow up visits were found to have lower odds for non persistence compared to patients with no follow up visits during the treatment. Patients who had a combination treatment with either buproprion or tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) were found to be more likely to non-persist (OR 2.85 P=0.003).

Continuation Phase Treatment: The odds of non-persistence were higher for patients in age group 18-40 compared to patients aged 40 above (OR 0.52 P=0.03). Patients who had 1 to 3 (OR 0.1 P<0.0001) or more than 3 (OR 0.13 P<0.0001)follow up visits were found to have lower odds for non-persistence compared to patients with no follow up visits during the treatment period

**Conclusion**: In this population of commercially-insured patients having diabetes, acute phase persistence with antidepressant therapy was found to be associated with age, antidepressant class, type of therapy and intensity of follow up visits where as continuation treatment persistence was associated with age and intensity of follow up visits.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to earnestly thank my major professor Dr. Larrat, whose support is the main reason I could complete this project. I thank him for all the guidance, resources and opportunities he has provided me since I started my masters program. I thank him for the knowledge I have gained, for his prompt responses and feed backs given to me whenever needed. His kindness and disposition will always be an inspiration to me.

I would also like to heartfully thank Dr. Kogut for his immense support during this project. I am always grateful for his guidance which enabled me to think better and work efficiently on my project. Working with him not only enhanced my research and technical skills but also my personal qualities such as being positive, dedication to work and being optimistic. I also thank him for providing the data for this project and allowing me to work on other research projects.

I would also like to thank Dr. Willey, whose classes equipped me with basic and fundamental research skills. The two courses she taught were the best classes I have taken here. I also thank her for time and feedback on my class work which I was able to apply to my thesis work.

I would also like to sincerely thank Dr. Rosenbaum and Professor Marcoux for being on my committee and providing suggestions to further improve my work. I am also very thankful to my parents and my sister who have been a source of infinite love and encouragement to me. It would not have been possible for me to complete this project without their support.

Once again I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Larrat and Dr. Kogut.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2	4
METHODOLOGY	4
CHAPTER 3	11
FINDINGS	11
CHAPTER 4	21
DISCUSSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	21
APPENDICES	25
BIBILOGRAPHY	32

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE PAGE
Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of a population of commercially
insured patients with diabetes: Acute Phase persistence with antidepressant
medication
Table 2. Bivariate Analysis: Factors associated with persistence to acute phase
antidepressant treatment in commercially insured patients with diabetes 15
Table 3. Estimated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals of antidepressant
treatment persistence during acute phase treatment
Table 4. Demographic and clinical characteristics of a population of commercially
insured patients with diabetes: Continuation Phase persistence with antidepressant
medication
Table 5. Bivariate Analysis: Factors associated with persistence continuation phase
antidepressant treatment in commercially insured patients with diabetes
Table 6. Estimated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals of antidepressant
treatment persistence during continuation phase treatment

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PA	AGE
Figure 1. Time frame for the enrollment of subjects in the study	6
Figure 2. Eligible population for acute phase treatment persistence measurement.	7
Figure 3. Eligible population for continuation phase treatment persistence	
measurement	8

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

In the United States the prevalence of diabetes is increasing with approximately 8% of the population or 26 million people diagnosed with this disease.<sup>1</sup> It is very crucial for patients with diabetes to adhere to their medication to have glycemic control <sup>2</sup> and also to decrease hospitalizations and health care costs.<sup>3</sup>

Approximately 15 million adults in the United States are affected by major depression which is highly recurrent.<sup>4,5</sup> It is estimated that 9.5% of the adult population suffer from depressive illness every year.<sup>6</sup> People with depression have negative effects such as suicidal behavior, higher health care utilization and costs, lower quality of life and reduction in employment productivity.<sup>7-9</sup> To achieve previous levels of functioning and to prevent reoccurrence of depression, adherence to antidepressant medication is critical.<sup>10-12</sup>

The increased prevalence of depressive symptoms and major depressive disorder in patients with diabetes has been documented by many studies.<sup>13</sup> The prevalence of depression in diabetic population is approximately double the prevalence of depression in the general population.<sup>14</sup> Symptoms of depression are present in approximately 30% of people with diabetes <sup>15</sup> and approximately 10% of people with diabetes have major depression.<sup>16</sup> Li et al found that 45% of patients with diabetes have undiagnosed depression which suggests even higher rates of prevalence of both these conditions together.<sup>17</sup> Comorbid depression in diabetes patients is severe and

persistent.<sup>18</sup> Lustman et al found that in patients with comorbid major depression and diabetes the rates of relapse of depression were as high as 79% over 5 year period with a mean of 4 or more episodes during that period.<sup>19,20</sup>

Patients with comorbid diabetes and depression are more likely to be non-adherent to the medication regimen<sup>21</sup> and also show poor diabetes management compared to patients without depression.<sup>22</sup> Depression is associated with higher hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels,<sup>23</sup> poor adherence to diet, exercise and medication regimen in patients with diabetes.<sup>24-27</sup> It is also associated with greater symptom burden,<sup>28</sup> functional impairment,<sup>25,26</sup> micro and macro vascular complications,<sup>29</sup> higher health care costs<sup>26</sup> and mortality.<sup>29</sup> For example a study conducted by Ciechanowski et al on patients enrolled in a health maintenance organization having diabetes with higher severity of depression symptoms, subjects had worse physical and mental functioning, higher non-adherence to oral hypoglycemic regimens (15% vs. 7%) 51% higher primary , 75% higher ambulatory and 86% higher total health care costs compared to patients with low severe symptoms of depression.<sup>26</sup> These facts suggest the importance of effective treatment of depression in patients with diabetes to improve the health outcomes.

When compared to non-depressed patients, depressed patients are three times more likely to be non-adherent to treatment recommendations. <sup>30</sup>In one study conducted amongst primary care patients about one-third discontinued their antidepressant therapy within one month of the initiation of the treatment and about half discontinued within three months.<sup>31</sup> Lowest rates of adherence were found in patients with diabetes (67.5%) compared to patients with other chronic conditions (pulmonary-68.8% and

cardiovascular diseases-76.6%) in a study conducted by DaMatteo et al.<sup>32</sup> These facts together suggest even lower adherence rates in patients with comorbid depression and diabetes. A major barrier to improving care in people with comorbid depression and diabetes is their poor adherence to the treatment.<sup>30</sup>

The objective of this study was to measure the rate of persistence to antidepressants and to identify the factors influencing persistence to these medications in patients with diabetes.

We hypothesized that one of the covariates among the patient demographic (age, gender, health plan) or clinical factors (Comorbidity score, insulin utilization, hospitalization, psychotherapy, type of antidepressant, class of antidepressant, type of therapy) or physician factors (follow up visits) better predicts the persistence to antidepressant therapy.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### METHODOLOGY

<u>Study Design</u>: We conducted a retrospective cohort study using a sample of commercially insured patients. The data set consisted of health care claims occurring from 2009 through 2012. All the members of this dataset have at least one International Classification of Disease-9 (ICD-9) code for diabetes during this period. The enrollment file has demographic information describing age, gender, health plan, enrolment start date and end date. The prescription file contains information describing National Drug Codes (NDC), drug names, dates of prescription dispensing , days of supply of the medication provided, national provider ID, copayment and prescription cost. The professional file includes information describing medical service use including diagnosis and procedure codes and payment amounts. The facility file has information describing ICD codes, Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes, revenue codes, copayment, cost paid to the facility, admit dates and discharge dates.

<u>Study population:</u> The study population includes patients enrolled in the commercial plan who were at least 18 years of age and diagnosed with major depression during 2009-2012 (International Classification of Diseases codes 296.20-296.25, 296.30-296.35, 298.0, 311). The patients were eligible for acute phase treatment and continuation phase treatment if they were enrolled at least 90 days and 180 days after the Index antidepressant Prescription Start Date (IPSD) respectively.

The patients were eligible for the study if (1) there was no history of diagnosis of major depression for at least 120 days prior to the first episode of major depression (Index Episode Start Date-IESD) and (2) there was no history of an antidepressant dispensing for at least 90 days prior to the IPSD. Since persistence with particular drug therapy was a variable of our interest, we excluded the patients who switched the drug therapy during the treatment period.

Figure 1. Time frame for the enrollment of subjects in the study



## Figure 2. Eligible population for acute phase treatment persistence measurement



Figure. 3 Eligible population for continuation treatment phase persistence

#### measurement



<u>Dependent Variable</u>: The dependent variable for the study was persistence to the antidepressant therapy. Effective acute phase treatment was defined as at least 84 days of continuous treatment with antidepressants within 114 days after the IPSD. Effective continuous phase treatment was defined as at least 180 days of continuous treatment with antidepressants within 231 days after the IPSD. The patients who meet these criteria were identified as persistent to therapy and who do not meet were identified as non-persistent to the therapy. The persistence to therapy during acute phase and continuous phase were evaluated in different models.

Independent variables: Age, gender, Charlson comorbidity index, insulin utilization, hospitalization, psychotherapy, class and type of the antidepressant, type of antidepressant therapy, health plan and intensity of follow- up care were the independent variables examined in this study. Age was coded in categories with age group 18-40 and above 41. The classes of antidepressants considered were tricyclic antidepressants (TCA), SSRI's (Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors), SSNRI's (Selective Serotonin Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors), phenyl piperazines, tetracyclic antidepressants and bupropion. The Charlson comorbidity index provides the overall measure of disease burden and predicts the mortality by weighing different comorbid conditions of the patient; this score was calculated for each patient for all the disease conditions in the time frame studied and was used for assessing the comorbidity of the patients in this study. The score was coded in categories with scores of 1 to 3 and more than 3. Follow up visits for any purpose during the treatment phase were counted for both the phases. The visits were coded as 0, 1-3 visits and more than 3 visits.

Statistical Analysis: Descriptive statistics for each variable were used to summarize the study population. Bivariate analyses were conducted to assess the association between the dependent variable and each independent variable. Univariate logistic regression was performed to select the variables with significant P-Values (0.2) for final model (Table 7 and Table 8 in Appendix). Interactions and colinearity were assessed between the independent variables. Multivariate logistic regression was performed to examine the multivariate associations of the independent variables with the dependent variable (persistence to antidepressant therapy during acute phase treatment and continuous phase treatment) and odds ratios were used to measure the association. Separate analyses were performed for the acute and continuous phases. The significance level was set at 0.05 and 95% Confidence Intervals were examined. All the statistical analyses were performed using SAS statistical software version 9.3.

#### CHAPTER 3

#### FINDINGS

#### Acute Phase Treatment Persistence

Table 1 provides the base line demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population. The mean age of this population was 60.5 years and a majority of the patients were females (56.8%). The mean comorbid score in this study population was 3.4. Additionally 44.69% of the patients received psychotherapy during the acute phase treatment. Insulin utilization was observed in 31% of these patients. Forty- four (6.4%) patients were hospitalized. A majority (65.2%) of them were enrolled in non-HMO (Health Maintenance Organization) plans. Most of these patients (81.8%) had antidepressant monotherapy. No follow up visits were in 30.6% of patients during the treatment period. Generic antidepressant drugs were prescribed to 84.6% of the patients. A majority of the population (71.5%) were prescribed SSRI's followed by SSNRI's (8.7%).

In the bivariate analysis (Table 2) age, antidepressant class, type of therapy and follow up visits were found to have a significant association with persistence to antidepressant medication during the acute phase treatment. Patients adherent during the acute phase were aged 41 or above (61.8%) vs. 18-40 years (47.5%), prescribed an SSRI antidepressant (61.7%) or SSNRI (63.3%) or bupropion (64.1%) and were on monotherapy (62.6%). Higher rates of persistence were found in patients having 1-3 (79.4%) or more than 3 follow up visits (53.9%).

In the multivariate analysis (Table 3) age, class of antidepressant, type of therapy and follow up visits were found to be significantly associated with persistence to acute phase treatment after adjusting for other variables. The odds of non-persistence were higher for patients in age group 18-40 compared to patients aged 40 above (OR 0.46 P=0.0036). Across the class of antidepressants patients utilizing other (trazadone and mirtazapine) antidepressants (OR=2.35 P=0.02) were more likely to not persist compared to patients utilizing SSRI's, whereas no difference was observed in the rates of persistence in patients utilizing SSNRI's, TCA, bupropion and SSRI's. Patients who had 1 to 3 (OR=0.19 P<0.0001) or more than 3 (OR= 0.63 P<0.0001)follow up visits were found to have lower odds for non-persistence compared to patients with no follow up visits during the treatment. Patients who had a combination treatment with either buproprion or TCA were found to be more likely to non-persist (OR 2.85 P=0.003) where as there was no difference in rates of persistence in patients who had a combination treatment with reatment either with trazadone or mirtazapine.

#### **Continuation Phase Treatment Persistence**

Table 4 shows the baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of the population in the continuous phase. The mean age of the study population during this treatment was 60.4. The proportion of females was higher (56.8%) than males. The mean comorbid score for this population was 3.4. Approximately 43% of patients received psychotherapy during this period. Insulin utilization was observed in 30.7% of the patients. Fourty patients (6.6%) were hospitalized during this period. Similar to the population in acute phase treatment a majority of the patients (65.8%) in this treatment phase were also enrolled in a non-HMO health plan. A higher percentage of people had monotherapy (72.8%). No follow up visits were observed in 18.6% of patients during the treatment period. Most of the patients were prescribed (83.6%) generic antidepressants similar to the patients in acute phase treatment. A majority of them were prescribed SSRI's (74.9%) followed by SSNRI's (9.0%).

In the bivariate analysis (Table 5) age and follow up visits were found to have a significant association with persistence to antidepressant medication during the continuous phase treatment. Patients adherent during the continuous phase were aged 41 or above (45.1%) vs. 18-40 years (30.3%). Higher rates of persistence were found in patients having 1-3 (56.2%) or more than 3 (48.9%) follow up visits compared to patients with no follow up visits (11.6%).

In the multivariate analysis (Table 6) age and follow up visits were found to be significantly associated with persistence to continuous phase treatment after adjusting

13

for other variables. The odds of non-persistence were higher for patients in age group 18-40 compared to patients aged 40 above (OR=0.52 P=0.03). Patients who had 1 to 3 (OR=0.1 P<0.0001) or more than 3 (OR=0.13 P<0.0001)follow up visits were found to have lower odds for non-persistence compared to patients with no follow up visits during the treatment period.

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of a population of commercially insured patients: Acute phase persistence with antidepressant medications (N=687)

<u>Variable</u>	<u>N</u>	<u>%</u>		
Age(Mean 60.5,SD16.7)				
18-40	80	11.7		
41-64	352	51.3		
65 and above	255	37.0		
Gender				
Male	297	43.2		
Female	390	56.8		
Comorbidity Score(Mean 3.4,SD 2.7)				
1	214	31.0		
2	106	15.5		
3 or more	367	53.5		
Insulin				
Yes	213	31		
No	474	69		
Hospitalization				
Yes	44	6.4		
No	643	93.6		
Psychotherapy				
Yes	307	44.7		
No	380	55.3		
Type of Antidepressant				
Generic	581	84.6		
Brand	81	11.8		
Brand and Generic	25	3.6		
Antidepressant Class				
SSRI	491	71.5		
SSNRI	60	8.7		
Tricyclic Antidepressants	39	5.7		
Bupropion	39	5.7		
Others	58	8.4		
Type of therapy		_		
Monotherapy	562	81.8		
Combination with				
trazadone/mirtazapine	85	12.4		
Combination with Others	40	5.8		
Health Plan	220	24.0		
HMO	239	34.8		
Non-HMO	448	65.2		
Follow up Visits	210			
	210	30.6		
1 to 3	247	35.9		
more than 3	230	33.5		

Table2. Bivariate Analysis: Factors associated with persistence to acute phase

antidepressant treatment in commercially insured patients

Variable	<u>Persistent</u>	<u>Non-Persistent</u>	Chi-Sq P-value
	412(60,1%)	274(20,0%)	
<b>A a a</b>	415(00.1%)	274(39.9%)	0.014
Age 19.40	28 (47 50/)	42(52,5%)	0.014
10-40	38 (47.3%)	42(32.3%)	
	373(01.8%)	232(38.2%)	0.07
Gender	100(640/)	107(260/)	0.07
Famala	190(64%)	167(42.89()	
Female	223(37.2%)	107(42.8%)	0.50
Comorbialty Score	266(60.0%)	171(20,10()	0.59
	200(00.9%)	1/1(39.1%)	
4 and above	147(58.8%)	103(41.2%)	0.1
Insulin			0.4
Yes	123(57.7%)	90(42.3%)	
No	290(61.2%)	184(38.8%)	
Hospitalization		T	0.42
Yes	29(65.9%)	15(34.1%)	
No	384(59.7%)	259(40.3%)	
Psychotherapy			0.14
Yes	194(63.2%)	113(36.8%)	
No	219(57.6%)	161(42.4%)	
Type of Antidepressant		-	0.91
Generic	351(60.4%)	230(39.6%)	
Brand	47(58%)	34(42%)	
Generic and Brand	15(60%)	10(40%)	
Antidepressant Class			0.03
SSRI	306(61.7%)	185(37.7%)	
SSNRI	38(63.3%)	22(36.7%)	
Tricyclic Antidepressants	17(43.6%)	22(56.4%)	
Bupropion	25(64.1%)	14(35.9%)	
Others	27(46.6%)	31(53.4%)	
Type Of Therapy	·		0.01
Monotherapy	352(62.6%)	210(37.4%)	
Combination with Trazadone/ Mirtazapine	44(51.8%)	41(48.2%)	
Combination with Others	17(42.5%)	23(57.5%)	
Health Plan			0.55
НМО	140(58.6%)	99(41.4%)	
Non-HMO	273(60.9%)	175(39.1%)	1
Follow up Visits	< 0.0001		
0	93(44.3%)	117(55.7%)	
1 to 3	196(79.4%)	51(20.6%)	1
More than 3	124(53.9%)	106(46.1%)	1

Table 3. Estimated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals of antidepressant

<u>Variable</u>	Odds Ratio	<u>95% CI</u>	<u>P-Value</u>
Age	0.0036		
18-40	1		
41 and above	0.46	0.27-0.78	
Gender			0.069
Male	0.73	0.52-1.03	
Female	1		
Comorbidity Score			0.6
1 to 3	1		
4 and above	1.09	0.76-1.56	
Antidepressant Class			0.02
SSRI	1		
SSNRI	0.94	0.52-1.71	
TCA	1.62	0.78-3.31	
Bupropion	0.83	0.4-1.7	
Others	2.35	1.29-4.29	
Follow up visits			< 0.0001
0	1		
1 to 3	0.19	0.12-0.29	
more than 3	0.63	0.42-0.93	
Type of therapy			0.003
Monotherapy	1		
Combination with Trazadone/ Mirtazapine	1.74	1.05-2.88	
Combination with Others	2.85	1.41-5.78	

treatment persistence during acute phase treatment

Table 4. Demographic and clinical characteristics of a population of commercially

insured patients: Continuation phase treatment persistence with antidepressant

	1.		•	
ma	101	oot	10	na
1110	-011	പ		118
1110	Jui	cui	10	TTO

<u>Variable</u>	<u>N</u>	<u>%</u>
Age(Mean60.4,SD16.2)	•	
18-40	66	11.0
41-64	319	52.9
65 and above	217	36.1
Gender		·
Male	260	43.2
Female	342	56.8
Comorbidity Score(Mean3.4,SD2.6)		·
1	186	30.9
2	94	15.6
3 or more	322	53.5
Insulin		
Yes	185	30.7
No	417	69.3
Hospitalization		
Yes	40	6.6
No	562	93.4
Psychotherapy		
Yes	257	42.7
No	345	57.3
Type of Antidepressant	•	
Generic	503	83.6
Brand	59	9.8
Brand and Generic	40	6.6
Class of Antidepressant		·
SSRI	451	74.9
SSNRI	54	9.0
Tricyclic Antidepressants	35	5.8
Bupropion	29	4.8
Others	33	5.5
Type of therapy	•	
Monotherapy	438	72.8
Combination with Trazadone/Mirtazapine	109	18.1
Combination with other	55	9.1
Health Plan		·
НМО	206	34.2
Non-HMO	396	65.8
Follow up Visits		
0	112	18.6
1 to 3	128	21.3
more than 3	362	60.1

 Table 5. Bivariate Analysis: Factors associated with persistence to continuation phase

antidepressant treatment in commercially insured patients

<u>Variable</u>	<u>Persistent</u>	Non-Persistent	Chi-Sq P-value
	262(43.5%)	340(56.5%)	
Age			0.02
18-40	20(30.3%)	46(69.7%)	
41 and above	242(45.1%)	294(54.9%)	
Gender			0.8
Male	115(44.2%)	145(55.8%)	
Female	147(43%)	195(57%)	
Comorbidity Score	0.6		
0 to 3	163(42.7%)	219(57.3%)	
4 and above	99(45%)	121(55%)	
Insulin	· · ·	• • •	0.8
Yes	79(42.7%)	106(57.3%)	
No	183(43.9%)	234(56.1%)	
Hospitalization			0.1
Yes	13(32.5%)	27(67.5%)	
No	249(44.3%)	313(55.7%)	
Psychotherapy	· · · ·	• • •	0.3
Yes	118(45.9%)	139(54.1%)	
No	144(41.7%)	201(58.3%)	
Type Of Antidepressant			0.6
Generic	218(43.3%)	285(56.7%)	
Brand	24(40.7%)	35(59.3%)	
Generic and Brand	20(50%)	20(50%)	
Antidepressant Class	0.3		
SSRI	199(44.1%)	252(55.9%)	
SSNRI	28(51.9%)	26(48.1%)	
Tricyclic Antidepressants	11(31.4%)	24(68.6%)	
Bupropion	13(44.8%)	16(55.2%)	
Others	11(33.3%)	22(66.7%)	
Type of Therapy			0.1
Monotherapy	201(45.9%)	237(54.1%)	
Combination with			
Trazadone/Mirtazapine	38(34.7%)	71(65.1%)	
Combination with Other	23(41.8%)	32(58.2%)	
Health Plan			0.7
НМО	92(35.1%)	170(64.9%)	
Non-HMO	114(33.5%)	226(66.5%)	
Follow up visits	<0.0001		
0	13(11.6%)	99(88.4%)	
1 to 3	72(56.2%)	56(43.8%)	
More than 3	177(48.9%)	185(51.1%)	

 Table 6. Estimated odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals of antidepressant

treatment persistence during continuation phase treatment

<u>Variable</u>	Odds Ratio	<u>95% CI</u>	<u>P-Value</u>
Age			0.03
18-40	1		
41 and above	0.52	0.29-0.94	
Gender			0.86
Male	0.99	0.70-1.41	
Female	1		
Comorbidity Score	0.99		
0-3	1		
4 and above	0.97	0.67-1.38	
Follow Up Visits			< 0.0001
0	1		
1 to 3	0.1	0.05-0.19	
more than 3	0.13	0.07-0.25	

#### CHAPTER 4

#### DISCUSSIONS, LIMITATIONS AND CONCLUSION

In this study we assessed the antidepressant treatment persistence rates and the factors associated with persistence to these medications in the acute phase and continuation phase treatment periods. Results of our study indicate that only 60.12 % and 43.52 % of patients were persistent to acute and continuation phase respectively. Persistence was significantly influenced by age, class of antidepressant, type of therapy and intensity of follow up visits during the acute phase treatment where as only age and intensity of follow up visits had an effect on persistence to the therapy during continuation phase.

As expected a majority of the patients were prescribed SSRI's as they are most frequently utilized for depression and the preferable antidepressants for diabetic patients as they might show beneficial effects on glycemic control.<sup>33-35</sup>

Older age was found to be associated with persistence to the antidepressant medication in both acute and continuous phases. This finding was consistent with the previous research<sup>36-38</sup> that older people were more likely to be adherent to the therapy compared to younger people. For example, in a study conducted by Akincigil et al on privately insured patients, patients who were age 50 or above were found to be 2.48 times more likely to be adherent compared to patients with 18-25 years. This might be due to the possibility that older people are more experienced in managing their medication regimen to various disease conditions which makes it easier for them to manage antidepressant medication as well. Another possible explanation might be they are more worried about mortality compared to younger population.

The class of antidepressant utilized was significantly associated with persistence during the acute phase but had no influence during the continuation phase. This might be due to the side effects or adverse events due to these drugs during the initial treatment. It could be assumed that patients who had no side effects with these drugs in acute phase treatment persisted with their medication in continuation phase and therefore the class of drug had no influence on persistence in this phase .Patients who were prescribed SSRI's were more likely to be persistent to acute phase treatment which was a similar result in previous studies<sup>39</sup>. There was no difference in the rates of persistence to the therapy among SSRI's SSNRI's, TCA and bupropion. Patients receiving other antidepressants (trazadone and mirtazapine) were less likely to persist with effective acute phase treatment. One reason for this might be that these drugs were prescribed for insomnia while the primary treatment was psychotherapy. Another reason might be due to the adverse effects of these drugs such as weight gain, dizziness etc.

22

It was also found that patients who had a combination therapy with SSRI/SSNRI and bupropion or TCA were less likely to persist. This might be due to the side effects due to the combination of these drugs such as remarkably lower blood pressure with combination of TCA and SSRI.<sup>40</sup> However a meta-analysis by Seetal et al found that combination of SSRI/SSNRI with bupropion was well tolerated.<sup>41</sup> Another reason might be these patients have severe depression resulting in less motivation to take the medicines.

We also found that patients who have either 1 to 3 or more than 3 follow up visits are more likely to be persistent to the therapy compared to patients with no follow up visits. It was found in the previous research that patients with 3 or more follow up visits were more likely to persist.<sup>36,37,42</sup> One reason for this might be that the physician could possibly educate the patient about the importance of taking the medications regularly. Another reason might be these patients are more cautious about their health and therefore have frequent follow up visits with the physician and take their medications regularly.

Our study has several limitations. (1)Reliance on claims data, which might have coding errors due to insufficient information provided by the physician about ICD codes, CPT codes etc. Also the deliberate miscoding of major depression with other diagnosis codes by physicians<sup>43</sup> further increases the chances of coding errors in identifying patients with major depression. (2)If the patient receives prescription or care outside the health plan network or if the patient receives samples by the provider

23

in the office it will not be shown in the claims data. (3)We assumed that patients who had prescription for the antidepressants as persistent which might not actually reflect the actual utilization of these drugs by the patients.(4) In the HEDIS (Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set) algorithm patients who switched the therapies are also included in the calculation of rates of persistence but in this study since we excluded them so the rates of persistence in this study might be underestimated if the patients who switched their therapy were persistent.(5)The generalization of these results might be limited to commercial health plans and patients with diabetes.

In this population of commercially insured patients having diabetes, acute phase persistence with antidepressant therapy was found to be associated with age, antidepressant class, type of therapy and intensity of follow up visits where as continuation treatment persistence was associated with age and intensity of follow up visits.

## APPENDICES

Table 7. Results of univariate logistic regression analysis for acute phase treatment

noratono	0
nercicient	
DOIMBLUIC	~

<u>Variable</u>	<u>Persistent</u>	Non Persistent	<u>Odds Ratio</u>	<u>95% CI</u>	<u>P-Value</u>
Age				-	0.015
18-40	38(5.53%)	42(6.11%)	1		
41 and above	375(54.59%)	232(33.77%)	0.56	(0.35-0.89)	
Gender					0.07
Female	223(32.46%)	167(24.31%)	1		
Male	190(27.66%)	107(15.57%)	0.75	0.55-1.03	
Comorbidity Score					0.59
3-Jan	266(38.72%)	171(24.89%)	1		
4 or more	147(21.4%)	103(14.99%)	1.09	(0.8-1.5)	
Insulin					0.39
Yes	123(17.9%)	90(13.1%)	1.15	0.83-1.6	
No	290(42.2%)	184(26.78%)	1		
Hospitalization					0.4
Yes	29(4.22%)	15(2.18%)	0.77	0.4-1.46	
No	384(55.9%)	259(4.22%)	1		
Psychotherapy					0.14
Yes	194(28.24%)	113(16.45%)	0.79	0.58-1.08	
No	219(31.88%)	161(23.44%)	1		
Tpe of Antidepressant					0.9
Generic	351(51.09%)	230(33.48%)	1		
Brand	47(6.84%)	34(4.95%)	1.1	0.69-1.77	
Generic and Brand	15(2.18%)	10(1.46%)	1.02	0.45-2.4	
Antidepressant Class					0.04
SSRI	306(44.54%)	185(26.93%)	1		
SNRI	38(5.53%)	22(3.2%)	0.96	0.55-1.67	
TCA	17(2.47%)	22(3.2%)	2.14	1.1-4.14	
Bupropion	25(3.64%)	14(2.04%)	0.93	0.47-1.83	
Others	27(3.93%)	31(4.51%)	1.9	1.01-3.3	
Type of Therapy					0.012
Monotherapy	352(51.24%)	210(30.57%)	1		
Combination with Trazadone or Mirtazapine	44(6.40%)	41(5.97%)	1.56	0.9-2.5	
Combination with Other	17(2.47%)	23(3.35%)	2.27	1.18-4.34	
Health Plan					
НМО	140(20.38%)	99(14.41%)	1		
Non-HMO	273(39.74%)	175(25.47%)	0.9	0.66-1.25	
Follow up Visits	,	,			< 0.001
0	93(13.54%)	117(17.03%)	1		
1 to 3	196(28.53%)	51(7.42%)	0.21	0.14-0.31	
more than 3	124(18.05%)	106(15.43%)	0.68	0.47-0.99	

 Table 8. Result of univariate logistic regression analysis for continuation phase

 treatment persistence.

			<u>Odds</u>		
<u>Variable</u>	<u>Persistent</u>	Non-Persistent	<u>Ratio</u>	<u>95% CI</u>	<u>P-Value</u>
Age					0.02
18-40	20(3.32%)	46(7.64%)	1		
41 and above	242(40.20%)	294(48.84%)	0.53	0.3-0.9	
Gender					
Female	147(24.42%)	195(32.39%)	1		
Male	115(19.10%)	145(24.09%)	0.95	0.69-1.32	
Comorbidity Score					
0-3	163(27.08%)	219(36.38%)	1		
4 or more	99(16.45%)	121(20.10%)	0.91	0.65-1.27	
Insulin					
Yes	79(13.12%)	106(17.61%)	1.05	0.74-1.49	
No	183(30.4%)	234(38.87%)	1		
Hospitalization					
Yes	13(2.16%)	27(4.49%)	1.65	0.84-3.27	
No	249(41.36%)	313(51.99%)	1		
Psychotherapy					
Yes	118(19.6%)	139(23.09%)	0.84	0.6-1.17	
No	144(23.92%)	201(33.39%)	1		
Type of Antidepressant					0.6
Generic	218(36.21%)	285(47.34%)	1		
Brand	24(3.99%)	35(5.81%)	1.12	0.65-1.93	
Generic and Brand	20(3.32%)	20(3.32%)	0.77	0.4-1.46	
Antidepressant Class					
SSRI	199(33.06%)	252(41.86%)	1		
SSNRI	28(4.65%)	26(4.32%)	0.73	0.42-1.29	
TCA	11(1.83%)	24(3.99%)	1.72	0.82-3.6	
Bupropion	13(2.16%)	16(2.66%)	0.97	0.46-2.07	
Others	11(1.83%)	22(3.65%)	1.58	0.75-3.33	
Type of Therapy					
Monotherapy	201(33.39%)	237(39.37%)	1		
Combination with					
Trazadone/Mirtazapine	38(6.13%)	71(11.79%)	1.59	1.02-2.45	
Combination with other	23(3.82%)	32(5.32%)	1.18	0.67-2.08	
Health Plan					
НМО	92(15.28%)	114(18.94%)	1		
Non-HMO	170(28.24%)	226(37.54%)	1.07	0.76-1.5	
Follow Up Visits					
0	13(2.16%)	99(16.45%)	1		
1 to 3	72(11.96%)	56(9.3%)	0.1	0.05-0.2	
more than 3	177(29.40%)	185(30.73%)	0.14	0.07-0.3	

#### **Model Building**

#### Acute Phase Treatment Persistence:

Univariate logistic regression was performed between the dependent variable and each

independent variable and interactions were assessed between the significant variables.

Age, gender, psychotherapy, antidepressant class, type of therapy and follow up visits

were found to be significant at a P-value significance of 0.2 for the acute phase

treatment (Table 7). Psychotherapy and gender became non significant in the

multivariate analysis. The model with interaction and the model with no interactions

were compared to select the final model.

Model 1: No-interaction model

Model 2: Model with interactions

The AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) of model 1 and model 2 were 847.6 and 847.5 respectively. The models were

compared using log likelihood ratio test.

<u>Likelihood Ratio Test.</u> H0: Model 1

Ha: Model 2

LR Test:

2 Log L model 1 - 2 Log L model 2 = 827.5 - 823.64 = 3.9

Degrees of Freedom = 12-10=2 P-Value= 0.14

The LR test suggests that the model with no interactions terms included explains

better. Also the co linearity diagnostics indicate co linearity in the model with

interactions as the variance inflation factors for all the variables (except age) were

greater than 6. Thus the model with no interactions was selected as the final model.

The variance inflation factors in the model with no interaction terms were close to 1 and the condition index was less than 30 confirming no colinearity. The model fit was assessed using Hosmer-Lemeshow Goodness of fit (GOF) and ROC curves. The GOF P-value (0.9) was greater than 0.05 and AUC (0.7) was greater than 0.5 indicating an adequate model fit

Table 9. Goodness of Fit test for acute phase model

Hosmer- Lemeshow Goodness-of-Fit Test		
Chi-Square	DF	Pr > ChiSq
2.9328	8	0.9385

Figure 4. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve for acute phase model



#### Continuation Treatment Phase Persistence

Age, follow up visits, hospitalization and type of therapy were found to be significant in the univariate logistic regression for continuation phase treatment. No interactions between these variables were found to be significant. When all variables that were significant in the univariate logistic regression were included in the model hospitalization and type of therapy were non-significant. Therefore, the final model included the clinically important variables such as gender and comorbity score along with significant variables age and follow up visits. This model was then assesses for co linearity. The variance inflation factors were near to 1 and the condition index was less than 30 confirming no co linearity in this model. The model fit was assessed using Hosmer-Lemeshow Goodness of Fit and ROC curves. The GOF P-value (0.6) was greater than 0.05 and AUC (0.65) was greater than 0.5indicating an adequate model fit

Table 10. Goodness of Fit for continuation phase model

Hosmer and Lemeshow Goodness-of-Fit		
Test		
Chi-Square	DF	Pr > ChiSq
4.7911	7	0.6854



Figure 5. ROC Curve for continuation phase model

## DV and IV Coding

## Dependent Variable

Persistence to antidepressant medication: Yes (1) No (0)

Independent Variables

- 1. Age : 18-40 (1) 40 Above (2)
- 2. Gender : Female (1) Male (2)
- 3. Comorbdity Score

0-3 (1)

3 or more (2)

4. Psychotherapy : Yes (1) No (0)

- 5. Insulin : Yes (1) No (0)
- 6. Antidepressant Class

SSRI (1)

SSNRI (2)

TCA (3)

Bupropion (4)

Trazadone and Mirtazapine (5)

7. Type of Antidepressant

Generic (1)

Brand (2)

Brand and Generic (3)

8. Type of Antidepressant therapy

Monotherapy (0)

Combination (1)

- 9. Hospitalization: Yes (1) No (0)
- 10. Health Plan: HMO (1) Non-HMO (2)
- 11. Follow up visits
  - 0(1)

1 to 3 (2)

More than 3 (3)

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.National Diabetes Fact Sheet (2011). 2011.
- 2. Rozenfeld Y, Hunt JS, Plauschinat C, Wong KS. Oral antidiabetic medication adherence and glycemic control in managed care. The American Journal of Managed care 2008;14:71-5.
- 3. Lee WC, Balu S, Cobden D, Joshi AV, Pashos CL. Prevalence and economic consequences of medication adherence in diabetes: a systematic literature review. Managed care interface 2006;19:31-41.
- 4. The National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI). Major Depression Fact Sheet., 2009
- 5. Burcusa SL, Iacono WG. Risk for recurrence in depression. Clinical psychology review 2007;27:959-85.
- 6. Valenstein M, Vijan S, Zeber JE, Boehm K, Buttar A. The cost-utility of screening for depression in primary care. Annals of internal medicine 2001;134:345-60.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association 2003;289:3095-105.
- 8. Katon WJ, Lin E, Russo J, Unutzer J. Increased medical costs of a populationbased sample of depressed elderly patients. Archives of general psychiatry 2003;60:897-903.
- 9. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Linzer M, et al. Health-related quality of life in primary care patients with mental disorders. Results from the PRIME-MD 1000 Study. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 1995;274:1511-7.
- 10. Keller MB, Hirschfeld RM, Demyttenaere K, Baldwin DS. Optimizing outcomes in depression: focus on antidepressant compliance. International clinical psychopharmacology 2002;17:265-71.
- 11. Geddes JR, Carney SM, Davies C, et al. Relapse prevention with antidepressant drug treatment in depressive disorders: a systematic review. Lancet 2003;361:653-61.

- Mann JJ. The Medical Management of depression. The New England Journal of Medicine 2005;353:1819-34.
- 13. Roy T, Lloyd CE. Epidemiology of depression and diabetes: a systematic review. Journal of affective disorders 2012;142 Suppl:S8-21.
- 14. Katon W, von Korff M, Ciechanowski P, et al. Behavioral and clinical factors associated with depression among individuals with diabetes. Diabetes care 2004;27:914-20.
- 15. Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, Clouse RE, Lustman PJ. The prevalence of comorbid depression in adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes care 2001;24:1069-78.
- 16. Egede LE, Zheng D. Independent factors associated with major depressive disorder in a national sample of individuals with diabetes. Diabetes care 2003;26:104-11.
- Li C, Ford ES, Zhao G, Ahluwalia IB, Pearson WS, Mokdad AH. Prevalence and correlates of undiagnosed depression among U.S. adults with diabetes: the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2006. Diabetes research and clinical practice 2009;83:268-79.
- 18. Lanting LC, Joung IM, Mackenbach JP, Lamberts SW, Bootsma AH. Ethnic differences in mortality, end-stage complications, and quality of care among diabetic patients: a review. Diabetes care 2005;28:2280-8.
- 19. Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Freedland KE, Clouse RE. The course of major depression in diabetes. General hospital psychiatry 1997;19:138-43.
- 20. Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Clouse RE. Depression in adults with diabetes. Results of 5-yr follow-up study. Diabetes care 1988;11:605-12.
- 21. Dirmaier J, Watzke B, Koch U, et al. Diabetes in primary care: prospective associations between depression, nonadherence and glycemic control. Psychotherapy and psychosomatics 2010;79:172-8.
- 22. McKellar JD, Humphreys K, Piette JD. Depression increases diabetes symptoms by complicating patients' self-care adherence. The Diabetes educator 2004;30:485-92.
- 23. Lustman PJ, Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, de Groot M, Carney RM, Clouse RE. Depression and poor glycemic control: a meta-analytic review of the literature. Diabetes care 2000;23:934-42.

- 24. Katon WJ, Von Korff M, Lin EH, et al. The Pathways Study: a randomized trial of collaborative care in patients with diabetes and depression. Archives of general psychiatry 2004;61:1042-9.
- 25. Ciechanowski PS, Katon WJ, Russo JE, Hirsch IB. The relationship of depressive symptoms to symptom reporting, self-care and glucose control in diabetes. General hospital psychiatry 2003;25:246-52.
- Ciechanowski PS, Katon WJ, Russo JE. Depression and diabetes: impact of depressive symptoms on adherence, function, and costs. Archives of internal medicine 2000;160:3278-85.
- 27. Lin EH, Katon W, Von Korff M, et al. Relationship of depression and diabetes self-care, medication adherence, and preventive care. Diabetes care 2004;27:2154-60.
- 28. Ludman EJ, Katon W, Russo J, et al. Depression and diabetes symptom burden. General hospital psychiatry 2004;26:430-6.
- 29. Black SA, Markides KS, Ray LA. Depression predicts increased incidence of adverse health outcomes in older Mexican Americans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes care 2003;26:2822-8.
- DiMatteo MR, Lepper HS, Croghan TW. Depression is a risk factor for noncompliance with medical treatment: meta-analysis of the effects of anxiety and depression on patient adherence. Archives of internal medicine 2000;160:2101-7.
- 31. Simon GE, VonKorff M, Wagner EH, Barlow W. Patterns of antidepressant use in community practice. General hospital psychiatry 1993;15:399-408.
- 32. DiMatteo MR. Variations in patients' adherence to medical recommendations: a quantitative review of 50 years of research. Medical care 2004;42:200-9.
- 33. Deuschle M. Effects of antidepressants on glucose metabolism and diabetes mellitus type 2 in adults. Current opinion in psychiatry 2013;26:60-5.
- Lustman PJ, Griffith LS, Clouse RE, et al. Effects of nortriptyline on depression and glycemic control in diabetes: results of a double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Psychosomatic medicine 1997;59:241-50.
- 35. Ghaeli P, Shahsavand E, Mesbahi M, Kamkar MZ, Sadeghi M, Dashti-Khavidaki S. Comparing the effects of 8-week treatment with fluoxetine and imipramine on fasting blood glucose of patients with major depressive disorder. Journal of clinical psychopharmacology 2004;24:386-8.

- 36. Akincigil A, Bowblis JR, Levin C, Walkup JT, Jan S, Crystal S. Adherence to antidepressant treatment among privately insured patients diagnosed with depression. Medical care 2007;45:363-9.
- Chen SY, Hansen RA, Gaynes BN, Farley JF, Morrissey JP, Maciejewski ML. Guideline-concordant antidepressant use among patients with major depressive disorder. General hospital psychiatry 2010;32:360-7.
- 38. Muzina DJ, Malone DA, Bhandari I, Lulic R, Baudisch R, Keene M. Rate of non-adherence prior to upward dose titration in previously stable antidepressant users. Journal of affective disorders 2011;130:46-52.
- 39. Merrick EL, Hodgkin D, Panas L, Soumerai SB, Ritter G. Is Customization in Antidepressant Prescribing Associated with Acute-Phase Treatment Adherence? Journal of pharmaceutical health services research: an official journal of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain 2012;3:11-6.
- 40. Onishi Y, Kato S, Kobayashi T, Kinuta T, Hirai N. [Remarkably low blood pressure induced by combination of SSRI and a small dose of TCA]. Seishin shinkeigaku zasshi = Psychiatria et neurologia Japonica 2005;107:1034-9.
- 41. Dodd S, Horgan D, Malhi GS, Berk M. To combine or not to combine? A literature review of antidepressant combination therapy. Journal of affective disorders 2005;89:1-11.
- 42. Fontanella CA, Bridge JA, Marcus SC, Campo JV. Factors associated with antidepressant adherence for Medicaid-enrolled children and adolescents. The Annals of pharmacotherapy 2011;45:898-909.
- 43. Rost K, Smith R, Matthews DB, Guise B. The deliberate misdiagnosis of major depression in primary care. Archives of family medicine 1994;3:333-7.